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Appeal fromthe United States District Court
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ON PETI TI ON FOR REHEARI NG
(Opi nion March 26, 2003, 5th Gr. 2003)
Bef ore KING Chief Judge, and DeMOSS and CLEMENT, Circuit Judges.
KING Chief Judge:

The petitions for rehearing are DENIED. This court’s
opinion (5th Cr. 2003), is hereby withdrawn, and the follow ng

opi nion is substituted:

The United States of Anmerica appeals the district court’s
suppressi on of approxi mately one hundred pounds of marijuana and
a pistol found in Defendant Brian Matthew More’ s vehicle. The
district court granted Moore’s suppression notion because it

determ ned that the police officers’ investigatory stop was
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transforned into a de facto arrest w thout probable cause when
the officers handcuffed More. Because we find that, even if the
officers arrested Mbore w thout probable cause, the evidence
uncovered was not the “fruit” of the illegal arrest, we reverse.
l. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HI STORY

A Fact s

This case concerns the admssibility of marijuana and a
firearmfound froma search of More’s vehicle during a traffic
stop. The parties substantially agree on the follow ng facts.

O ficers Geg Fountain and Tony Viator noticed More swerve
onto the shoul der of the road several tines, so they initiated a
traffic stop. O ficer Fountain approached Moore' s car and
noti ced that Mbore was attenpting to light a cigar! and that
Moore’s | uggage was in the back seat of the vehicle rather than
in the trunk. Oficer Fountain then asked Mbore to exit his
vehi cl e and produce his driver’s |license.

O ficer Fountain told Moore he was stopped for crossing onto
t he shoul der of the road three tinmes and then asked Mbore how
| ong he had been driving and where he was going. Wile Oficer
Fountai n spoke with More, Oficer Viator contacted dispatch to
check Moore’s record for any outstanding warrants and to ensure
his license was valid. Oficer Fountain told More that Oficer
Viator was running a records check on his |license and conti nued

to question More. At one point, More reached behind his back

. O ficer Fountain testified that, in his thirteen years
of experience, he has noticed that an individual may |ight a
cigar or cigarette during a traffic stop to mask the odor of
al cohol or drugs.
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and placed his hand near his waist; Oficer Fountain then patted
down Mbore but did not find a weapon.

O ficer Fountain asked Moore if he had anything illegal in
his vehicle. More stated that he did not but then refused to
give Oficer Fountain consent to search the vehicle. According
to Oficer Fountain - and More contests this - More appeared
increasingly nore nervous. Oficer Fountain then said, “You're
extrenely nervous. | know you got a |oad of dope in there from
the way you are acting. Do you want a chance to hel p yoursel f?
Yes or no?” Moore did not respond. O ficer Fountain notioned to
Oficer Viator to retrieve the drug-detecting dog that had been
riding along with the officers in their squad car to sniff
Moore's car. O ficer Fountain then told More to sit on a curb
and place his hands in front of his body. Oficer Fountain
handcuffed Mbore, twice told More that he was not under arrest,
and then advi sed Moore of his Mranda rights.

The drug-detecting dog alerted Oficer Viator to the
presence of narcotics in the vehicle's trunk. O ficer Fountain
opened the trunk and found approxi mately one hundred pounds of
marijuana. O ficer Fountain then told More he was under arrest
and noved Moore’s handcuffs fromthe front to the back of his
body. Oficer Fountain searched the rest of the car and found a
| oaded pistol and additional small anmpunts of marij uana.

The entire episode — traffic stop, questioning, handcuffing,
dog sniff, and search — happened in less than ten mnutes. It
was captured on a videotape by a canera nounted on the police

car. The police officers did not receive a response from
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di spatch on the records check until after the search of More’s
vehi cl e was conpl ete.

B. Procedural Hi story

Moore was charged with carrying a firearmduring a drug
trafficking crime in violation of 18 U S.C. § 924(c) (2000) and
W th possession of marijuana with intent to distribute it in
violation of 21 U.S.C. §8 841(a)(1) (2000). Mboore noved to
suppress all evidence obtained fromthe vehicle search on the
ground that O ficer Fountain arrested himw thout probable cause
when O ficer Fountain placed himin handcuffs and read himhis
Mranda rights. The United States argued that O ficer Fountain
did not arrest Modore but only detained him and, alternatively,
that the itens found during the search were not the “fruit” of
t he arrest.

The district court granted Mbore’s suppression notion. The
district court determ ned that Officers Fountain and Viator had
reasonabl e suspicion to stop More for a traffic violation, but
t hat handcuffing Moore turned the traffic stop into a de facto
arrest. The district court did not explicitly anal yze whet her
the evidence was the fruit of the illegal arrest but sinply held
t hat because the arrest was illegal, the evidence should be
suppr essed.

The United States now appeals. The United States argues:
(1) the police did not arrest Moore when they placed himin
handcuffs and read himhis Mranda rights; and (2) even if the
police did arrest Moore, the marijuana and firearm found during

the search of Moore's vehicle were not the “fruit” of the arrest
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because the police obtained the evidence through a | egal
i ndependent source, not through the allegedly illegal arrest.
Moore adds an issue on appeal, claimng that the appeal should be
di sm ssed because the United States did not show it obtained
perm ssion to appeal according to 18 U S.C. § 3742.
1. STANDARD OF REVI EW

This court addresses conpliance with 18 U S.C. § 3742 de

novo, as it is a question of statutory interpretation that was

not before the district court. See, e.qg., United States v.

Hanafy, 302 F.3d 485, 487 (5th Cr. 2002).
When reviewi ng a notion to suppress, this court reviews
factual findings for clear error and questions of |aw de novo.

E.g., United States v. Jones, 234 F.3d 234, 239 (5th Gr. 2000).

Whet her evidence is the “fruit” of police illegality is a |egal

concl usion that we review de novo. See United States v. Herrera-

Gchoa, 245 F.3d 495, 498 (5th Cr. 2001). Further, this court
views the evidence in the |ight nost favorable to the party that
prevailed in the district court. [|d.

[11. DI SCUSSI ON

A. VWhet her the United States Denpnstrated It Received
Perm ssion to Appeal Under 18 U S.C. 8§ 3742(Db)

Moore argues that the United States has not denonstrated
that it obtained perm ssion to pursue this appeal under 18 U S. C
8§ 3742(b) because it did not provide witten docunentation of
perm ssion in the record.

The United States contends that it has denonstrated
conpliance wwth the 8 3742(b) requirenent because it stated in

its initial brief that it obtained approval prior to filing its



No. 01-51135
- 6-

opening brief in this court and then it attached a copy of the
Solicitor General’s permssion letter to its reply brief.

The statute at issue, 18 U.S.C. § 3742(b) (2000), states
that after the United States files a notice of appeal in a
crimnal case, “[t]he Governnent may not further prosecute such
appeal w thout the personal approval of the Attorney Ceneral, the
Solicitor General, or a deputy solicitor general designated by
the Solicitor General.” This statute, though, applies only to
sentenci ng appeals. See 18 U.S.C. § 3742(b) (explaining when the
United States may appeal “an otherw se final sentence”) (enphasis
added). Thus, 8§ 3742(b) is not the basis for jurisdiction in
this case.

Jurisdiction is instead based on 18 U. S.C. § 3731, which is
the statute generally authorizing appeals by the United States in
crimnal cases. This statute specifically notes that it applies
to “a decision or order of a district court suppressing or
excluding evidence.” 18 U S.C. §8 3731 (2000). Section 3731 does
not contain any requirenent that the United States obtain
perm ssion fromthe Attorney Ceneral, the Solicitor General, or a
deputy solicitor general prior to pursuing an appeal. I1d.

Rat her, the statute sinply requires that the United States appeal
“Wwthin thirty days after the decision, judgnent or order has

been rendered” and certify to the district court that “the appeal
is not taken for purpose of delay and that the evidence is a
substantial proof of a fact material in the proceeding.” I1d.

The district court judgnent was entered on March 14, 2002, and
the United States filed its notice of appeal on April 9, 2002.
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The notice of appeal contained the required certifications.

Mbore’s argunent is thus neritless.?
B. Whet her the District Court Erred in Suppressing the Evidence

The United States challenges the district court’s
suppression ruling on two grounds. First, the United States
argues that the legal traffic stop was not transfornmed into an
illegal arrest when Mbore was handcuffed.® Second, the United
States argues that, even if the police illegally arrested Moore,
the evidence found in his vehicle was not the “fruit” of the
illegal arrest. Because we agree with the United States on the

second i ssue, we need not reach the first issue of whether the

2 Moore arguably rai ses one other issue: that the United
States failed to give sufficient notice of appeal under FeEb. R
ApPp. P. 4(b)(1)(B). The United States did conply with the notice
requi renent. Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 4 states that
the United States nust file its notice of appeal wthin 30 days
after the later of the entry of judgnent or the defendant’s
notice of appeal. Fep. R App. P. 4(b)(1)(B). The United States
filed its notice of appeal within 30 days of the district court's
judgnent, so Moore’'s argunent is neritless.

3 The United States points out that handcuffing a suspect
does not automatically convert a detention into an arrest; the
key question is whether the officers behaved unreasonably in
failing to use less intrusive nmeans to conduct their
investigation safely. See, e.qg., United States v. Jordan, 232
F.3d 447, 450 (5th Gr. 2000) (“Handcuffing a suspect does not
automatically convert an investigatory detention into an arrest
requi ri ng probabl e cause. The relevant inquiry is whether the
police were unreasonable in failing to use |ess intrusive
procedures to safely conduct their investigation.”) (citation
omtted). The United States argues, based on the testinony of
the officers, that the officers acted reasonably in handcuffing
Moor e because they were concerned for their own safety and
beli eved that Modore posed a flight risk. Further, the United
States notes that the officers repeatedly advised More that he
was not under arrest and the officers did not engage in any other
show of force. Wile we do not decide the issue, there are
certainly several factors suggesting that the investigatory stop
may not have risen to the level of a de facto arrest.
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traffic stop was transfornmed into an arrest when More was

handcuf f ed.

The United States argues that the district court erred in
automatically suppressing the evidence found during the vehicle
search because even if there were an illegal arrest, the evidence
fromthe vehicle search was not obtained as a result of the
arrest but rather cane froma | egal independent source. The
United States reasons that the police could legally detain More
until the check of his record was conplete, the check of More's
record was not yet conplete when the dog sniff occurred, the dog
sniff gave the police probable cause to search Mwore's car, and
the search revealed the incrimnating evidence. Thus, the United
States argues, the police found the evidence through a chain of
| egal activities and not as a result of the allegedly illegal

arrest.

Moore argues that the evidence nust be suppressed because
the allegedly illegal arrest tainted the search of his vehicle.
Moore reasons that the officers decided to use the drug-detecting
dog based on his refusal to consent to a vehicle search. Moore
al so argues that the officers’ “excessive’” questioning nade his

detention illegal.

Evi dence obtained as a result of the exploitation of an

illegal search or seizure should be suppressed. See Wng Sun v.

United States, 371 U S. 471, 488 (1963) (suppressing evidence

obt ai ned “by exploitation of [police] illegality” but not

evi dence obtai ned “by neans sufficiently distinguishable to be
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purged of the primary taint”) (citation omtted). Evidence that
is not obtained as a result of police illegality, but rather
through a I egal “independent source,” need not be suppressed.

See Murray v. United States, 487 U S. 533, 537 (1988). Under the

“i ndependent source” doctrine, “if not even the ‘but for’ test
can be net [so that the evidence woul d not have been found but
for police illegality], then clearly the evidence is not a fruit
of the prior Fourth Amendnent violation.” 5 Wayne LaFave, Search

and Seizure: A Treatise on the Fourth Amendnent 8§ 11.4(a), at 236

(3d ed. 1996).

In this case, the officers did not obtain the evidence as a
result of the alleged arrest; the evidence was the product of
| egal police activity. That is, every step the officers took in
uncovering the evidence was constitutionally permssible. Put
anot her way, the fact that More was handcuffed is irrel evant
because handcuffing Mbore did not cause the officers to find the
evidence. The officers detained and questi oned More while
awaiting the results of the check of his record. Mbore’s
detention was constitutionally perm ssible because an officer may
detain an individual until a check of his record is conplete.

See United States v. Dortch, 199 F.3d 193, 198 (5th Cr. 1999),

op. corrected on denial of reh’'g, 203 F.3d 883 (2000); see also

United States v. Shabazz, 993 F. 2d 431, 436-37 (5th Gr. 1993)

(“The questioning that took place occurred while the officers
were waiting for the results of the conputer check
Because the officers were still waiting for the conputer check at

the tinme they received consent to search the car, the detention
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to that point continued to be supported by the facts that

justified its initiation.”). The officers had a drug-detecting
dog sniff Moore's car, which is also perm ssible because a dog
sniff of a vehicle is not a Fourth Amendnent “search” requiring

i ndi vidualized suspicion. See United States v. Place, 462 U S

696, 706-07 (1983). The results of the dog sniff gave the
of ficers probable cause to search Mwore’'s car, so the search that

uncovered the evidence was justified. See, e.q., Chanbers v.

Mar oney, 399 U. S. 42, 48 (1970) (“[A]utonobiles and ot her
conveyances may be searched without a warrant . . . provided that
there is probable cause to believe that the car contains articles
that the officers are entitled to seize.”). Thus, the police

of ficers obtained the evidence in this case through a series of

| awful steps. The evidence was sinply not the product of police
illegality.

United States v. lbarra-Sanchez is on point. See 199 F. 3d

753, 760-62 (5th Gr. 1999). |In that case, the police had
reasonabl e suspicion to stop a van based on facts suggesting that
the van contained marijuana. See id. at 758-60. The police

st opped the van, approached the van with guns drawn, ordered
passengers to exit the car and kneel on the ground, and
handcuffed the passengers and placed themin patrol cars. See
id. at 757. The passengers argued that the investigatory stop
becane an “arrest” not supported by probable cause. See id. at
760. The panel determned that “even if the show of force by the
officers constituted an illegal arrest, it would not affect our

ultimate di sposition because neither the drugs nor the statenents
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were products of the all eged post-stop arrest.” 1d. at 761

(enphasi s added). Because the police snelled marijuana as they
approached the vehicle, they had probable cause to search the
vehicle. See id. at 762. “[I]t made no difference to the
ultimate result whether the[] [defendants] stood by the side of
the road or sat handcuffed in police cars: in either situation,
the officers would have di scovered the mari huana and arrested
them” |d. Simlarly, in this case the officers would have
obt ai ned the evidence through | awful neans whet her or not they
handcuf fed More.

Moor e nmakes no argunent about how the handcuffing led to the

search of his vehicle. Mbore argues that his refusal to consent
to a vehicle search led to the dog sniff, but the police do not
need i ndividualized suspicion to conduct a dog sniff because it
is not a Fourth Amendnent search. Mdore also contends that his
nervousness in response to the officers’ questioning led to the
dog sniff, but the police are allowed to question suspects while
awaiting the results of a records check.* Moore does not argue
that it was the handcuffing that nmade hi m appear nore nervous and
that is why the officers had the dog sniff his car. Indeed, it
appears fromthe record that the police first decided to have the
dog sniff the vehicle, then handcuffed Mbore because they were
concerned about himtrying to flee during the sniff and

subsequent search. The district court assuned that if an illegal

4 Though Moore argues that “excessive” questioning may
transforman investigative stop into an arrest, this circuit has
rejected that argunent in cases where the questioning does not
i ncrease the duration of the stop. See Shabazz, 993 F.2d at 436-
37.
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arrest took place, suppression of the evidence found during the
vehi cl e search was warranted. But here, the alleged arrest was
not even the “but-for” cause of the search. The evidence was
obt ai ned t hrough an i ndependent source and thus suppression of
the evidence is not appropriate in this case.
V. CONCLUSI ON

For the foregoing reasons, the district court’s suppression

order is REVERSED and the case is REMANDED for further

pr oceedi ngs.
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DeMOSS, Circuit Judge, specially concurring:

Because (1) a drug sniffing dog alerted to the exterior of
the trunk of Moore’ s vehicle; (2) that alert occurred prior to
the time the arresting officers got any response to the |icense
check they initiated as a result of making a traffic stop of
Moore’s vehicle; and (3) such alert of a drug sniffing dog does
not constitute any kind of illegal search or seizure, | concl ude
that the officers had reasonabl e suspicion to search the trunk of
Moore’s car. Accordingly, | concur in the panel decision to
reverse the District Court’s order suppressing the drugs found in
the trunk of Mbore's vehicle. But for these circunstances,
however, | woul d have concl uded that the conduct of O ficer
Fountain in placing handcuffs on Moore and ordering himto sit on
the side of the road would have constituted a warrant | ess arrest
W t hout probabl e cause and the drugs discovered thereafter would
have been suppressed as the fruit of an illegal search nade

Wi t hout Mbore’ s consent.



